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IN THE SUPREME COURT, OF SOUTH AFRICA 
Cappeliate DIVISION)

In the matter between -

NATAL ESTATES LTD.......................................................... Appe 1 la nt

and

SECRETARY FOR INIAND REVENUE................................. Respondent

Coram: Holmes, Trollip, Muller, Corbett, JJ.A., et Galgut,
A. J.A.

Heard: 26 & 27 May 1975

Delivered: 11 July 1975

judgment

HOIMES, J.A. :

The parties are litigating about profits aggregating 

more than R8 000 000 made by the appellant company from the 

sales of portions of its lands during the years 1965 to 1970.

The appellant is a public company carrying on business 

as a grower and miller of sugar cane, and a manufacturer of 

sugar.

The.................................................................2/
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The sales in question were in respect of - 

------------------------------ (a) certain of the appellant’s lands in the 
coastal area of Unihlanga Rocks and La Lucia 
during the years 1965 to 1970; and 

tb) certain lands in other areas, more inland 
than coastal, during the years 1969 - 1970.

The respondent determined the profits from these sales 

of lands to be part of the appellant's income. The tenor of 

the appellant's unsuccessful objections was that the profits 

were accruals of a capital nature and ought therefore to have 

been excluded from its income.

There was an additional ground of objection in respect 

of the year ending 30 April 1965. Certain profits on disposals 

of land during that year were not treated as income in the ori­

ginal assessment issued; but they were included in an additio­

nal assessment of R548 010 issued by the respondent during 

April 1972. The appellant unsuccessfully objected to this ad­

ditional assessment on the ground that the respondent was 

precluded.    ♦ . 3/ 
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precluded by the terms of section 79 of the Income Tax Act, 

No. 58 of 1962, from re-opening in 1972 the assessment pre­

viously issued for the 1965 tax year.

On appeal, the Special Court for hearing income tax 

appeals in Natal, Miller, J., presiding, held in favour of 

the appellant on the latter point. With regard to the other 

years, 1966 - 1970, some of the Special Court’s findings 

favoured the -appellant and some the respondent.

The effect of the Court's order was -

1. to set aside the additional assessment of 
R548 010 in respect of the 1965 tax year;

2. to hold that the profits from all of the 
sales of land in the coastal areas, Umhlanga 
Rocks and La Lucia, in the tax years 1966 - 
1970 were accruals of income (save for one 
special three-acre site in Uïrihlanga Rocks 
which was disposed of in 1970 after a no­
tice of expropriation, the profit from which 
was found to be an accrual of a capital 
nature);

3T“to. —4/
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3. to hold, in respect of sales in Ottawa Town­
ship (in 1969 and in 1970), that it was un- 
persuaded that the respondent was wrong-in 
regarding the profits as accruals of income;

4. to hold that the profits from the sales of 
land in certain other areas in 1969 and 1970 
were accruals of a capital nature and non- 
taxable;

5. to send back (by agreement) the assessments 
for 1966 - 1967 to enable the respondent to 
make certain adjustments; and those for 1969 
- 1970 to enable him to issue fresh assess­
ments .

This partial success on each side satisfied neither 

party. The appellant accordingly appeals and the respondent 

cros s-appeals.

The appeal (as distinct from the cross-appeal) chal­

lenges the findings under 2 and 3, supra (save in regard to 

the one special sale in Umhlanga Rocks). The total of these 

profits, the taxability of which is in issue, (after allow­

ing for certain agreed adjustments in regard to the years 

1966 - 67), was R5 794 838. ”

The.................................................................5/
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The cross-appeal challenges the findings under 1 and

4, supra, and the finding under 2 as to the one special sale1 

in Umhlanga Rocks. The total of these profits, the taxability 

of which is in issue, was R2 314 001.

Both sides have consented in writing to direct access

to this Court. It will be convenient to refer to the parties 

throughout as the appellant and the respondent.

As to the facts, the judgment of Miller, J., contains

a painstaking culling from the record of several volumes, 

consisting of the evidence of two witnesses and an amplitude 

of documents over the past half century. I draw freely from 

the judgment, and sometimes from the Statement of Case, in 

the following outline of the factual background. Paragraphs 

in quotations are from the judgment -

(i) The appellant company was formed in 1920. The 
first of its objects in the Memorandum was to 
enter into and give effect to an agreement for 
the purchase, as a going concern, of the whole 
of the assets, movable and immovable,“of a com­
pany registered in England. The cost to the ap­
pellant in those halcyon days was about £400 000. 
Counsel informed us that the cost to the appel­
lant of the land (as distinct from the mill and 
other improvements) was R128 364, or about R6 
per acre. The English company was carrying on

- business 6/
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business in Natal as a grower and miller of 
sugar. It had been doing this for some twenty- 

~ “ five years. The lands consisted of 21 025
acres, all to the north of the town of Durban, 
and bounded on the east by the sea. About 
13 000 acres were then under cane, in estates 
or sections. On one of them a sugar mill had 
been erected. This was at Mount Edgecombe, some 
ten miles from the northern boundary of Durban. 
The going concern, which the appellant took 
over in 1921, included all of the foregoing, 
and also, inter alia, about 25 miles of per­
manent tramway tracks and 30 miles of porta­
ble tracks.

(ii) Since 1921 the appellant has at all material 
times continued and expanded the business of 
its predecessor, and is a grower and miller 
of sugar cane and a manufacturer of sugar. 
And at all material times all of the land 
suitable for cultivation was under cane.

(iii)____ At the very outset of its existence there was 
dangled before the appellant the glittering 
possibility of a price of £2 000 000 if it 
would sell out to a certain Mauritian group. 
That would have represented a quick profit 
of about 400%. Not surprisingly, the appel­
lant entered into serious negotiations re­
lating, inter alia, to the disposal of the 
total share capital of the company. The ne- 

_________________________ —gotiations. were .protracted.,—but—finally .fell----- 
through in 1923. Thereupon it was recorded

in...............................................................7/
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in the minutes of a directors1 meeting held 
on 27 September 1923 that, "the directors 
should not entertain any further approach 
re acquisition of the company but should 
concern themselves with the main business 
of the company that is the manufacture of 
sugar^.

bility to the expropriation of portions of 
its land by duly constituted authorities; and

(iv) f The records of the appellant company reveal
that its Board was aware, at a comparatively
early stage of its existence, of its vulnera-

of the possibility of encroachment upon its 
south-lying cane fields by the demands of the 
expanding town (now city) of Durban. In the 
very first year of its existence, 26 acres of 
its land were expropriated by the South Afri­
can Railways for the construction of the 
Phoenix station. In later years, particularly 
from 1950 onwards, there were many instances 
of expropriations or of sales effected by the 
appellant under notice or threat of expropria­
tion. Thus, in 1951, six acres at Umhlanga 
Rocks were lost to the Defence Department; in 
1953, about seven acres to the Durban Corpora­
tion for road purposes; during 1957, about 169 
acres to the Natal Provincial Administration’s 
Roads Department for purposes of the construc­
tion of the North Coast Road. In 1957, a very 
substantial portion of Melkhoute Kraal and 
other land adjoining it was sold to the Durban 
Corporation for the establishment of a Bantu 
Township which was soon thereafter laid out by 

the.................................................................8/
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the corporation, and is now known as Kwa 
Mashu - Township, - The-area- thus- sold _ was___  
2262 acres, and it appears that the appel­
lant was a reluctant seller but felt obli­
ged to dispose of the land which was re­
garded by the Corporation as a pressing 
need. It is not unlikely that expropria­
tion would have resulted had the appel­
lant not agreed to sell this land. During 
the period 1960 to 1963, the South African 
Railways expropriated 24 acres for the 
establishment of the Ottawa railway line 
and a further 15 acres for the North Coast 
line. The fam Richmond, 172 acres in ex­
tent, was sold to the Bantu Affairs De­
partment, allegedly unwillingly, to avoid 
expropriation. There were also, during 
that time, several disposals of land to 
the Durban Corporation, the largest of 
them being the disposal of 793 acres for 
the purposes of the Corporation’s exten­
sion of Kwa Mashu township.*, Thus 3474 
acres, in the aggregate, were lost to the 
appellant. One of the numerous objects in 
the Memorandum of the appellant was the 
disposal of any of the property of the com 
pany.

'From the outset the appellant recognized 
the need, in view of the likelihood of 
loss of cane-producing lands, of building 
up capital reserves from the proceeds of 
sales of land to enable it to expand its 
sugar business northwards, to areas more

remote
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remote from the inevitable encroachment of an 
 expanding city......The appellant spent time 

and money investigating the possibilities of 
acquiring cane fields and establishing a mill 
or mills in Zululand or elsewhere to ensure 
its continued existence as a sugar-cane farmer 
and miller." One of the appellant’s numerous 
objects, contained in its Memorandum, was the 
acquisition of land.

(vi) 11 A substantial tract of land (3635 acres) was 
also acquired in Zululand (Nkwaleni) during 
1943 - 1945 but was sold off during the pe­
riod 1948 to 1950, (It was 150 miles from 
Mount Edgecombe, and this caused administra­
tive difficulties). It appears that the bulk 
of the land acquired after 1921 was primarily 
cane-land, the following being examples. In 
1923 the property known as Effingham Estate, 
971 acres in extent, was purchased. This land 
lies south of Umhlanga Rocks. At the time of 
its acquisition a very large percentage of the 
farm was under sugar cane and the appellant 
planted a further 169 acres very soon after 
acquiring it. Four years later, the property 
known as Ottawa Estate, (2821 acres) north­
west of Umhlanga Rocks, was purchased as ’a 
going cane farm’. Approximately 90% of its 
area was under cane. During 1929 the appel­
lant acquired the property known as Frasers 
Estate (1643 acres). This land, too, was to 
a large extent ~under—cane but’a possibly Mirt--  
more immediate reason for its acquisition was

that 10/
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that the appellant held a bond over the proper­
ty as security for a loan. During 1934 small 
portions of Melkhoute Kraal land were purchased 

___________(the appellant already owned the large tract______  
which they adjoined) and in 1937 an established 
cane farm known as Avoca Estate (946 acres) and 
smaller tracts of land in the Zeekoe Vallei 
area, near Durban, were acquired. The Bellamonte 
Estate (1124 acres), acquired in 1945, was also 
land calculated to serve as a source of cane for 
the Mill.**, By 1966 the appellant had acquired, 
in the aggregate, nearly 7 000 extra acres of 
land, i.e., in addition to its primary purchase 
• ■ thatin 1921. The Special Court found as a fact^these 
extra lands were purchased, not for the purpose 
of sale, but as an investment of capital for the 
proper carrying on of the business of the appel­
lant. It was necessary to maintain a high through' 
put of cane, approximately 80% of the mill’s ca­
pacity, to break even with the cost-structure. 
A throughput of less than 80% carried the risk 
of loss instead of profit.

(vii) “The appellant was aware throughout those: years 
not only of the possibility of expropriation by 
Government and local authorities for essential 
development in relation to railways, roads, se­
werage works, etc., but also of the growing pres­
sures and demands for land suitable for residen­
tial development near Durban, which was expand­
ing northwards. The Minutes of Board meetings 
and the Chairman’s reports reveal that by 1940, 
many approaches had been made to the appellant 

----------------by “individuals-or “bodies-desirous-of-purchasing— 
land for residential purposes close to the sea. 
That part of the appellant’s land, which exten­
ded southwards from Umhlanga Rocks area towards

Durban 11/
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Durban, along the coast, had obvious appeal 
for-such purposes r-as the subsequent_pheno*-____  
menal development of that coastal strip of 
land has clearly shown. It is also clear that 
the appellant realized that its seaward pro­
perty was extremely valuable because of its 
suitability and desirability as land for re­
sidential purposes....................... On 17 November,
1943, the Board considered a request made to 
it to sell land close to the sea. It was re­
solved to inform the inquirers that 'at this 
juncture* the appellant was not contemplating 
the sale of its coastal property. The Chair­
man observed, however, that the preparation 
of a development scheme covering the whole or 
a portion of the coastal area might become 
necessary. Not long thereafter a sub-committee 
was formed to examine the situation and it duly 
submitted a report to the Board, which discus­
sed it on 11 January, 1944. The Chairman is re­
ported in the Minutes of that meeting to have 
explained that*it was felt that at a later date 
this land will prove of greater value for re­
sidential purposes than for cane-growing and 
the Board desired to know more about its possi­
bilities 1. It was recorded that when the time 
was appropriate, the company would indicate 
which land it could spare for residential deve­
lopment. On 24 April, 1946, the future policy 
of the appellant in regard to its lands was dis 
cussed and in such discussion full heed was 
taken of the possibility that the expansion "of 
Durban might force the company * to dispose of 
portions of its present cane lands for residen­
tial and other purposes’. On 5 February, 1947,

the 12/
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the appellant was requested by agents acting 
on behalf of the Durban Corporation to give 
an option to purchase 3700 acres of land. The 
option was not granted but once again it was 
recorded that 1 the company was fully aware 
that in years to come it would lose land as 
Durban expanded1. At the same time the Board 
expressed concern regarding the serious ef­
fects upon the company of losing large areas 
of cane lands and emphasized the importance 
of acquiring other lands for the purpose of 
maintaining the company’s sugar interests.^

viii) ’•These references, which are not exhaustive, 
to the deliberations of the appellant’s 
Board, show clearly that as early as 1947 
it was alive to (1), the increasing probabi­
lity that it would sooner or later be unable 
to resist the pressure being exerted upon it 
to part with some of its cane lands, especial­
ly the seaward lands, for development for re­
sidential purposes, (2) the need to find sui­
table cane lands, to replace what it might 
lose in the future, in the interests of the 
proper maintenance and development of its 
business of producing and milling cane and 
(3) the considerable value and potential of 
its seaward land for purposes of sale. These 
three considerations were not dormant for any 
long period in the years that followed; from 
time to time fresh offers or approaches for

—------ the-acquisition of—portions -of--the company’s-----  
land were made but were tured down by the

Board...................................................13/
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Board which regarded the time as not yet ripe 
for disposing of its seaward land. During 1946 

------------- it-cons idered- thepoi^iblead vantages—of— dis — 
posing of small portions of its uncultivated 
land for residential purposes ’in order to 
establish land values’ - a further indication 
of its awareness of the importance of land 
suitable for residential purposes and of its 
potential value as such. In fact, during or 
about 1950, a limited number of residential 
lots at Umhlanga Rocks were sold and a reso­
lution was taken by the Board to treat the 
proceeds of the sales as receipts of a capi­
tal nature.”

(ixj "In June 1957, a meeting of the Board of the 
appellant took place and the question of ap­
plying for a certificate of need or desira­
bility, in terms of section 12(5} of the 
Town Planning Ordinance, No. 27 of 1949(n), 
was discussed with reference to its coastal 
land now known as La Lucia. It is common 
cause that during that year such a certifi­
cate, which was a pre-requisite to establish­
ment of a township, was duly granted by the 
Commission established in terms of the Ordi­
nance, upon the application of the appellant. 
It appears from the Minutes that after the 
application for a certificate had been gran­
ted, the Board announced that its policy was 
not to dispose voluntarily of land suited to 
cane growing until such time as the establish­
ment of the proposed township was necessitated

by.................................................................14/
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by the growing demand for residential proper- 
ty as a result of the northward expansion of 
Durban. In 1959, however, draft conditions for 
the establishment of a township at La Lucia 
were submitted and a report from the company1s 
surveyors, together with a model of the town­
ship, were laid before the Board which decided 
that it would be in the interests of the com­
pany not to proceed with the scheme until the 
demand for land for residential purposes north 
of Durban was more favourable. When that hap­
pened the board would decide whether to deve­
lop the township itself or to dispose of the 
land to a township development company. Refe­
rences to the proposed establishment of the 
township were made from time to time thereaf­
ter and during 1962 there was reference to the 
development of La Lucia ’as a protection against 
expropriation* and to the fact that 1 for rea­
sons of taxation it was not the intention to 
develop the township fully until the company 
was forced to do so*.

(x)----- "In October 1962 sensational events took place 
affecting the control and administration of 
the appellant company..................(namely), the suc­
cessful bid by Sir J.L. Hulett and Sons Ltd., 
to take over the appellant company and the 
equally successful bid, almost immediately 
thereafter, by a consortium of companies in 
the sugar industry to take over Sir J.L. Hu- 

 iett-and-Sons—Ltd^ The -result-was-that the ------------ 
appellant company came under the control of

the.......................................................15/
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the consortium and is still a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of the parent company which is 
now styled Huletts Corporation Limited, and 
to which I shall henceforth refer as 'Huletts*.*,

(xi) On 23 October 1962 the firm of real estate 
agents and valuers, advising the appellant, 
reckoned on a sales life of 20 years for the 
more than 2 000 saleable lots of the La Lucia 
Township.

(xii) "At one of the first meetings of the newly con­
stituted Board, which was held on 30 November, 
1962, the future development of the township 
established at La Lucia was discussed and it 
was resolved to instruct the town planners, 
who had been engaged by the appellant, to pro­
ceed with the preparation of plans for the 
development of zones 1, 2 and 3 of La Lucia. 
During January, 1963, Consulting Engineers 
and Architects were appointed for purposes 
of the development and a special sub-committee 
was appointed to consider matters of finance 
and taxation relating to the township (Exhibit 
9). Consideration of appointment of selling 
agents for the township was deferred. During 
March, progress was reported by Mr. Lloyd, who 
was Chairman of a special 'land Committee’, re­
garding organization of ’over-all plans for de­
velopment of land owned by the company' and du­
ring August the committee submitted recommenda-

------------- _tions_ regarding *_the_p_r_actical aspectL_Qf deve­
lopment of the initial zones in the La Lucia 
township* which were accepted in toto by the

Board 16/
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Board for submission to the parent company, 
_____ Huletts. During June of that year, the ap- 

pellant's Board had already discussed such 
details as the naming of streets and the 
establishment of a nursery for the supply 
of trees in the township. In Huletts Annual 
Report for the year ended 30 April 1964 
(Exhibit 13) special reference was made to 
the ’orderly development of the land assets 
of The Natal Estates Limited’ and some por­
tion of the printed Report was devoted to 
a description, with photographic illustrations, 
of the development of La Lucia, concerning 
which it was said that the preliminary plan­
ning of that area had commenced in 1958 and 
that the development programme had been ’in­
tensified during the past year’. The selected 
references I have made to the Minutes suffi­
ciently bear out the claim by Huletts that 
development was intensified during the year 
following the take-over. At the time of pu­
blication of the Report, 188 lots of the 
first zones of the township had been sold by 
public auction. The whole township was to 
comprise 2350 lots, each approximately one- 
third of an acre in extent.*

(xiii) ",0n 3 December, 1964, it was resolved by the 
appellant to form a company, La Lucia Homes 
(Pty) Ltd., to which would be entrusted the 
future construction of homes in La Lucia.
That company was’ dul^in corpora ted" ear ly-in -----  
1965. It will be convenient at this stage to

sketch............... .. ................................ 17/
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sketch the re-organization of the Huletts 
group which took place at various stages 
after the take-over. At the head of what I 
may call Huletts 1 Diversification and In­
vestment’ section was Huletts Investments 
Ltd., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the pa­
rent company. La Lucia (Pty) Ltd., was a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of Huletts Invest­
ments Ltd. Later, La Lucia Homes (Pty) Ltd., 
became Huletts Construction (Pty) Ltd., a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of Huletts Property 
Holdings, Ltd., which was in turn a wholly- 
owned subsidiary of Huletts Investments Ltd., 
as was Effingham Hills (Pty) Ltd., a company 
formed for purposes of property development 
at Effingham. During 1968, the Anglo-Ameri­
can Corporation entered into an agreement 
with the parent company for the formation of 
a new company, La Lucia Property Investments 
Ltd., which acquired, en bloc, the La Lucia 
beachfront and Umhlanga Lagoon areas from the 
appellant company for RI,4 million. Anglo- 
American Corporation held 55% of the equity 
interest in the new company and Huletts In­
vestments Ltd., the remaining 45%. The new 
company was also granted options to acquire 
further coastal land owned by the appellant. 
(See Exhibit 13, Report for 1968, P. 8). 
While this re-organization was taking place 
the sale of lots in the Umhlanga Rocks and 
La Lucia areas was proceeding. Initially, the 
ma_jority of the sales—of* lots were—effected 
directly by the appellant to members of the 
public but some lots were sold to what was

then.................................................. 18/
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then known as La Lucia Homes (Pty) Ltd. During 
the year ended 30 April, 1968, however, although 
there were still sales of individual lots to 
members of the public and to La Lucia Homes, 
bulk sales of large areas of land in Extensions 
5, 6 and 7 of La Lucia commenced. In that year 
230 acres were sold by the appellant to La Lucia 
Property Investments Ltd., for over RI,3 million. 
During 1969 and 1970, large tracts of land with­
in the township of la Lucia, also in the Umhlan- 
ga Rocks Lagoon area and in Extensions 7 and 8 
of Umhlanga Rocks, were sold to La Lucia Proper­
ty Investments and to Huletts Property Holdings. 
Whereas the appellant had previously developed 
and laid out the township of La Lucia and been 
concerned with the construction of dwellings, 
the purpose in the later years when bulk sales 
of land were made to associated companies, was 
that the purchasing companies would themselves 
take over the development and construction work 
and re-sell to members of the public for their 
own profit. The appellant, however, made consi­
derable profits on the sale of the land in bulk 
to the other companies in the Huletts group."

(xiv} "Shortly after the take-over, the appellant deci­
ded to apply for certificates of need or desira­
bility in respect of portion of Bellamonte Esta­
te and Peace Cottage 1 with a view to protecting 
the company’s coastal lands against future expro­
priations and Group Area determinations’. And on 
19 April, 1963, the-appellant*s Board—decided to~ 
apply for a similar certificate in respect of

portions 
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portions of Effingham Estate, with a view to 
its- development -as—an^-Indian residential town-— 
ship. At that time the Durban Corporation pro­
posed to establish an Indian township in the 
Mt. Edgecombe and Phoenix areas. A certificate 
in respect of portion of Effingham Estate was 
duly granted. The land in question was sold by 
the appellant to a company, Effingham Heights 
Development Co. (Pty) Ltd., during the year 
ended 30 April, 1969, at a profit of R389 086. 
The Minutes show that a group of Durban Indians 
had for long been interested in acquiring por­
tion of the appellant’s lands at Effingham and 
that the Durban Corporation had also shown and 
continued to show interest in the appellant’s 
Lands in the vicinity of that area for purposes 
of establishment of a residential area for In­
dian members of the community................. Long be­
fore the sale of the land at Effingham, there 
had been negotiations with a Mr. Pillay who was 
very anxious to purchase the land. The appellant 
had refused to sell to him but Mr. Pillay was 
persistent in his attempts to acquire the pro­
perty............ Because the appellant realized the 
inevitability of the establishment by some per­
son or another of an Indian township in the 
general vicinity of Mt. Edgecombe, or there­
abouts, it was determined to ensure, if possi­
ble, that such township be sited at a place con­
venient to its own interests and not in close 
proximity to its mill. It was for that reason.. 
......... that the appellant resolved itself to 
apply for the establishment of such a township,

for 2D/
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for it preferred to have the township on its 
Effingham land rather than on other portions 
of its ground in that area. It is clear that 
the appellant had for some time been concern­
ed to examine the possibilities in regard to 
its land in the Mt. Edgecombe and Effingham 
areas. Pointed reference to these areas was 
made by Huletts Chairman in his report dated 
21 July, 1967 (Exhibit 13); 1967 Report, at 
p. 12) in which he said, with reference to 
Huletts 'policy of diversification', that 

'special impetus has been given to the 
development of our housing and indus­
trial land at La Lucia, Effingham and 
Mt. Edgecombe. A special division of 
land operations has been created as 

_ ----- — ... .. indicated above.,-to meet -the require^- _ —
ments of this most important avenue 
of diversification, and also to ac­
celerate the generation of funds for 
diversification. 1 11

(xv) *In the report for each of the succeeding years, 
reference was made by the Chairman to the group’s 
progress in regard to the general policy of di­
versification and, specifically, to the success 
of the operations concerning the land owned by 
the appellant, which was described as 'probably 
the most sought after in Natal'. (1968 Report, 
at p.9). The Report also made reference to a 
comprehensive plan, produced early in 1968 by 
a special committee of the appellant, for the 
' ultimate usage' of the land owned by the ap­
pellant. That plan, which is Exhibit*. 15 in 

----------------these-proceedings,-envisages-the-establishment------  
of a new city on approximately 22 000 acres of 
the appellant’s land stretching from the southern

boundary............ ...................................... 21/
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boundary of La Lucia, northwards to the Umdloti 
River and inland for some distance beyond Mt, 

----------------- -  Edgecombe 7-which* would“be the “centre of“the 
city - a scheme which the Chairman considered 
might be brought to fruition only after fifty 
or more years,"

(xvi) "The committee responsible for production of the 
long-term plan for ultimate usage of the lands, 
explained in the first chapter of its report 
that the need for such planning stemmed from 
the realization that it had long been obvious 
to the appellant that -

’there was nothing it might do to pre­
vent the eventual take over of all the 
sugar lands owned by it for industrial 
and residential township purposes and 
to ward off the threat of the ultimate 
closure of the company's sugar mill at 
Mt. Edgecombe.1 "

(xviij "This statement is a crystallization of what had 
frequently been discussed at meetings of the 
Board in the years before 1962 and seems to em­
phasize that the appellant had been concerned in 
the past, was then concerned and would continue 
to be concerned in the future, regarding the pro­
bable loss of its existing cane lands to the cause 
of urban development and the need to establish new 
cane lands and mills further afield. It is neces­
sary to point out, too, that in the Minutes of 
Board meetings after 1962.................. and in others, 
...... discussions relating to the development 
and sale of the company1 s lands were very fre- _ 
quently coupled with discussion of plans to ex­
pand the sugar business of the company northwards."

(xviii ) During................................................................................................ 22/
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(xviii) During the years 1965 - 1970 relevant to this 
case the appellant disposed of a total of ap-

‘ proximately-4~B45"“acres “of land. As at the date
of the appeal in the Special Court the appellant 
still owned approximately 24 000 acres of land, 
most of it under cane. It still carries on busi­
ness as a grower and miller of sugar cane and a 
manufacturer of sugar - as it has done since 1921. 
For the years 30 April 1963 to 30 April 1970 the 
appellant's profits from such business exceeded, 
in the aggregate, R7 000 000.

One turns now to the assessments which are the subject 

of this appeal, in so far as they relate to profits made on 

disposal of land. The following synopsis, substantially as 

prepared by Miller, J., reflects, in respect of each year 

reading from the left, a number to designate the transaction 

(for ease of reference later in the judgment) followed by a 

brief description of the property sold, the acreage of the 

property (in brackets), and, finally, the profit realized 

on the sale. Only items assessed to tax and in issue in this 

case are listed:

Synopsis.................................................. 23/
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SYNOPSIS

1965
(1) La Lucia, Exts. 1 and 2, (227}
(2) Umhlanga Rocks, Ext. 7, (28)
(3) 11 * Foreshore

R436 474
111 498

38

R548 010

The Special Court held that the Secretary was not en­

titled in 1972 to issue this additional assessment of R548 010.

1966
(1) La Lucia, Ext ns. 1 and 2, (33} ... R268 525
(2) Umhlanga Rocks, Ext. 7, (0,4} 4 852

Again, only items (1) and (2) were assessed to tax; i.e., 

R273 377; but certain amounts in respect of those two items 

were adjusted, resulting in a nett sum of R266 253 being in­

cluded in the appellant's income.

The Special Court held that these were accruals of in­

come.

1967
(1) La Lucia, Exts. 1 and 2, (21) R195 227
(2j---- Umhlanga -Rocks-;—camp, * (O;6} - -------------------- 1-550------
(3) * " foreshore 200

After 24/





- 24 -

After some adjustments had been made in respect of costs, 

a nett sum of R196 792 is in issue.

The Special Court held that this total represented ac­

cruals of income.

The Special Court held that these were accruals of in

1968
(1) La Lucia, Extns. 1 and 2, (22) R317 703
(2) N N Ext. 3, (34) 249 789
(3) H N Extns. 2,5,6 and 7, (203) 1 216 909
(4} Umhlanga Rocks, Ext. 7. (1) 4 235

come.

RI 675 342

(1)
1969

La Lucia, Extns. 1 and 2, (2,6) R40 277
(2) " ■ Ext. 3, (5) 12 842
(3) Ottawa Township, (0,6) 9 097
(4) Umhlanga Rocks, Road camp., (12,5) 89 668
(5) La Lucia, Ext. 4, (109) 759 891
(6) Umhlanga Lagoon, (74) 98 843
(7) Effingham Estate, (282) 389 086
(8) Land for Kwa Mashu Extension (793) 275 638

The latter two items, 7 and 8, were held by the Special

Court to be accruals of a capital nature and non-taxable; and

the remainder were regarded as accruals of income.

All of
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All of these items were included in the taxable income.

is-necessary to add that-item (8) relates to land acquired 

by the Durban Corporation after notice of expropriation had 

been given. The Corporation and the appellant negotiated for 

about six years after notice of expropriation had been given; 

hence the inclusion of the proceeds in the 1969 tax year, fi­

nality not having been reached until that year.

1970
(1) La Lucia, ExtnS.' 1,2, (0,3) 4 811
(2) « * Ext. 3, (3) 42 142
(3) Ottawa Township, (2,6) 26 374
(4) La Lucia, Ext. 8, (100) 625 634
(5) Umhlanga Rocks, Ext. 8, (29) 162 089
(6) " ■ Ext. 9, (130) 1 671 489
(7) Newlands, (19) 16 892
(8) Umhlanga Rocks, ( 3 ) 24 304
(9) Phoenix - Mt. Edgecombe, (885) 1 059 183
(10} Mt. Edgecombe, (0,3) 888

R3 633 806

Items 7,8, 9 and 10 were held by the Special Court to 

be non-taxable as being accruals of a capital nature; the re-

mainder were as accruals of income.

All ten.......... .. ..........................................26/
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All ten of these items were included in the appellant’s 

taxable~ihc'ome. “Item C8) relates to land acquired by the Natal 

Anti-Shark Measures Board, after notice of expropriation; item 

(9), to land acquired by the Department of Community Develop­

ment after it had given notice of intention to acquire it in 

terms of the Housing Act, 1966, and item (10) to land acquired 

by S.A. Railways after notice of expropriation, given in June, 

1968.

The aggregate of all of the foregoing profits assessed 

to tax (after allowing for the few agreed adjustments in re­

spect of the years 1966 and 1967) is R8 108 839; and it is 

their taxability which is in issue.

The stage is now set for a consideration of the legal 

contentions and arguments in this Court in the appeal. (The 

cross-appeal will be dealt with later).

UMHIANGA ROCKS AND, LA LUCIA...................27/
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UMHLANGA ROCKS AND LA LUCIA

In the Court a quo the issue was, broadly, whether 

the profit on the sales of the appellant's land were of a 

capital nature, or whether they represented income. More 

closely, the crucial issue was (a) whether the land, which 

was the subject of the sales, was being held as an invest­

ment of capital which was converted into cash; or (bj whe­

ther, in respect of such land, the appellant had changed 

its original intention and had gone over to the business 

of developing and selling such land for profit, using it as 

stock-in-trade.

The Court a gup held that (b) was the case in regard 

to Umhlanga Rocks and La Lucia (save in regard to one spe­

cial sale). It held, by the clearest implication (and the

implication 27A/
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implication was common cause) that the appellant had 

changed its intention to hold this land as a capital in­

vestment, and had decided to sell it. It held further, in 

terms, that the appellant had gone over to the business 

just mentioned; and that therefore the profits represented 

income. In regard to other sales, more inland than coastal, 

the Court held that (a) was the case, and therefore that 

the profits were accruals of a capital nature. See the para­

graph commencing “The effect of the Court' s order* near the 

commencement of this judgment.

In this . .28/
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In this Court the first and main contention on behalf 

of-the-appellant; in"regard-to* sales of land in Umhlanga 

Rocks and La Lucia, was that there never was a change of the 

original intention that all of the land represented a capital 

investment; and that the appellant's admitted business acti­

vities, in regard to the land which it sold, represented no 

more than the business of realising part of its capital as­

sets to the best advantage; and therefore that the profits 

were not accruals of income. This was a different presenta­

tion from that in the Court a quo. It lays its axe at the 

root of traditional legal concepts in regard to a change of 

intention and the effect thereof. It takes its stand forth­

rightly on the thesis that an original intention to regard 

land as a capital investment is decisive, for it can never 

change (save in special circumstances not here relevant); 

and that subsequent development and sales of such land, how­

ever businesslike, fall under the umbrella of realising a 

capital asset to the best advantage.

The foundation................................  29/
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The foundation of this argument was the Special Court’s 

fihdihg^that-the-appellant-*clearly purchased ’as a going con­

cern' its predecessor's assets, including the mill and the 

cane-lands, with the object and intention of employing them

CW 
as capital assets for the purpose ofpLncome-producing busi­

ness, and it has in fact carried on that business for the 

past half-century and still carries it on".

Before proceeding with the argument on this basis, it 

is necessary to deal with a contention by counsel for the 

respondent. He attacked the foregoing finding to this extent: 

he submitted that the assets were acquired in 1921 with a 

dual intention, the other one being that of re-sale at a 

profit by way of subdivisional development of residential 

land. I rather think that this submission equates the post 

hoc with the propter hoc, for there is no evidence, contem­

poraneous with the acquisition in 1921, to support the con­

tention. There was, it is true, a written statement in the 

negotiations......... .30/*
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negotiations with the Mauritian group (see paragraph (iii) 

of the tabulated facts early in this judgment) to the effect 

that certain coastal bush land (this would be, in the main. 

La Lucia and Umhlanga Rocks) might have a valuable residen­

tial potential. But this statement, made in those early days, 

rather savours of “business puffing*, which sellers have ever 

been wont to favour; and in any event the statement is pre­

ceded -by the hypothesis * should the Durban Corporation extend 

its tramways along this beach*. As to that, there is no evi­

dence that the Corporation ever envisaged this venturesome 

possibility. It was further contended, in support of the no­

tion of initial dual intention, that the appellant knew all 

along that the coastal strip in question was unsuitable for 

the cultivation of cane; and that therefore the appellant 

must have intended, from the outset, to develop it residen- 

tially and to re-selliit at a profit. There seem to me to be 

at least two answers to this. First, the appellant bought its

predecessor’s 31/
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predecessor's assets lock, stock and barrel, the good land 

with the less favoured, in what may be described as a pack­

age deal. That does not per se import an initial intention 

to develop and sell oft the unfavourable land at a profit. 

Second, there is evidence to the effect that, from the point 

of view of a cane grower, the littoral bush growth on the 

sand dunes was appreciated as a wind-break, lest the beach 

sand encroach upon the farming area.

Continuing with his contention in regard to an initial 

dual intention, counsel for the respondent referred to the 

fact that the appellant’s memorandum authorizes it to carry 

on the business of dealing in property for gain. As to that, 

X agree with the reply by counsel for the appellant to the ef­

fect that it is not the law that where a company has among its 

objects both dealing and holding, a profit made on the reali­

zation of assets will necessarily be income; that the mere 

fact that a company has power to sell a particular asset or all 

of. 32/
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of its assets does not imply that it is part of the business 

of_the“company to—sell~“that ’particuiar^assetter its assets! 

that most people of sound mind and understanding have power 

to dispose of their property, but it does not follow from 

that that they carry on the business of dealing if they sell 

any property which they possess. In African Life Investment 

Corporation (Pty) Ltd, v. Secretary for Inland Revenue, 1969 

(4) S.A. 259 (A.D.) at p. 270 C it was said that *the mere 

fact that the appellant is ....... empowered to realize its 

assets by sale or otherwise - a power ordinarily inherent in 

ownership - does not imply that dealing in shares is part of 

its business*. Furthermore, in Income Case No. 1200

36 S.A.T.C. 34, at p. 35, Colman, J., said that the fact that 

buying shares and reselling them at a profit was covered by 

the objects clause in the appellant’s memorandum of associa­

tion “is not one to which we should attach great weight be­

cause of the well-known practice in South Africa of framing 

objects clauses in very wide terms?

Lastly 33/
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Lastly, this contention of an initial dual intention 

was —raised—in -and~deait-with~ by' the Special-Court hand it 

rejected it. I am unpersuaded that there are grounds warran­

ting the avoidance of that finding.

1 continue, therefore, with the contention of counsel 

for the appellant on the footing that its original intention 

was to hold the land as a capital investment. The contention 

was that that intention was decisive. It is necessary to test 

this contention by reference to decisions of this Court over 

the past half century and more. It is undoubtedly correct that 

if, on the facts of a given case, the most that can be said is 

that the taxpayer was merely realizing a capital asset to the 

best advantage, the proceeds do not become part of his gross 

income. Several judicial decisions to this effect were cited. 

In Com, of Taxes v. Booysens Estates Ltd, , 1918 A.D. 576, 

Innes, C.J., while recognising at page 593, commencing in 

fin., that in England the relevant provisions as to

income....................................................34/
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income tax were not identical to those in our then Income Tax

Act, No. 25 of 1914, said at page 595 -

*The~Iine" of enquiry'under’our Act-there fore-ap= 
proaches so close to the English test, that in a 
case like the^ one before us there is no practical 
difference. And that being so, we are free to refer 
for guidance to the English'decisions. The general 
rule approved by the Privy Council in Commissioner 
of Taxes v. Melbourne Trust (1914 A.c. at p. 1010} 
was thus stated in the Californian Copper Syndi­
cate v. inland Revenue (anno 1904, 41 Sc. L.R. 
691}....................................................................................................

’It is quite a well-settled principle in 
dealing with questions^SMHKSnmiB^- of 
Income tax that where the owner of an 
ordinary investment chooses to realize 
it, and obtains a greater pricej^han he 
originally acquired it at, the enhanced 
ptice is not profit...................assessable
to^tax. But it is equally well established 
that enhanced values obtained from reali­
zation or conversion of securities may be 
so assessable where what is done is not 
merely a realization or change of invest­
ment , but an act done in what is truly 
the carrying on or carrying out of a 
business.1 * (My italics}

The w®rds italicised appear to be the genesis of the

distinction consistently drawn by this Court under our subse­

quent Income Tax Acts (despite some change in wording in the

relevant provisions since the 1914 Act} between -

(a) Realising a capital asset. A simple example 

would be that o^ a manufacturer selling a re­

dundant warehouse; or a pensioner selling his 

— family house to live in a”flat; - or a farmer
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selling a portion of his land which has become 
isolated from the farm by the construction of 
á railway line. In such cases the gain will not 
be income and is not taxable.

(b) Selling an asset in the course of carrying on 
a business or embarking on a scheme for profit. 
A simple example would be that of a speculative 
builder buying plots for the purpose of erect­
ing houses thereon and selling them at a profit. 
The latter would be income, and subject to tax.

As a matter of interest, the Scottish Californian Cop­

per Syndicate case of 1904, supra, has remained good law in 

England; see, e. g., General Reinsurance Co. Ltd, v. Tomlinson, 

(1970) 2 All ER. 436 at page 442. And in the same year, in 

a Privy Council appeal from Australia, Lord Donovan applied 

the "governing principle* formulated in the Californian Cop­

per Syndicate case; see McClelland y. Commissioner of Taxa­

tion of the Commonwealth of Australia, (1971) 1 All ER. 969 

at page 975 D.

The foregoing principle has been followed and developed 

in this Court over the years. Thus, in Stott v, C.I.R. 1928 

A.d. 252 (which was a case under the 1925 Act), Wessels, J.A.,

relied 36/
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relied on the Californian Copper Syndicate case, supra, by 

adopting- at_p,_. 259 -in—f in^-, —the—remarks -of-Innes—Jt-t—in-----  

an earlier case (Overseas Trust Corporation Ltd., v. C.I.R. 

1926 A.D. 441 at p. 453), namely , "But where the profit is, 

in the words of an eminent Scottish Judge, 'a gain made by 

an operation of business in carrying out a scheme for profit­

making then it is revenue derived from capital productively 

employed and must be income.' * See, too, pages 261/2. Stott’s 

case, supra, concerned a surveyor who subdivided and sold 

certain of his land; and the question was whether he was car­

rying on a scheme for profit-making. The decision (which was 

in the taxpayer’s favour) is noteworthy in the following re­

spects :

(a) It applied the test in the Californian Copper 
Syndicate case, supra, namely whether the tax­
payer sold the asset in pursuance of a business 
or prof it-making scheme.

(b) It recognised the principle that an owner of 
land” (or any “of her "assetëntitied to rea^ 
lize such asset to the best advantage; and 
"the fact that he does so cannot alter what 
is an investment of capital into a trade or 
business for earning profits"; page 263, at 
the end of the main paragraph.

_ (c)~ In holding................................. 37/
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(c} In holding the balance between (a) and (b)

__ ____ AU- ___ it_ recognised- the— importance (but“not 
exclusive decisiveness) of the inten­
tion with which the asset in question 
was acquired; page 264;

(ii) it recognised that "The mere fact that 
the land was cut up into lots rather 
than sold as a whole cannot by itself 
alter the character of the proceeds 
derived from the land from capital to 
gross income; * ; page 263;

(iii) it recognised that "there is no defi­
nite test which can always be applied 
in order to determine whether a gain 
or profit is income or capital, but in 
order to convert what is on the face 
of it an ordinary investment of sur­
plus funds into a profit-making busi­
ness there must be proof of some spe­
cial acts which in the ordinary expe­
rience of men shows that the taxpayer 
has conceived some scheme for profit­
making and has made it his business to 
carry it out*; page 264.

This latter statement is important for it is the begin-

ning of the test of degree, of which more anon.

as.............................................................
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As a matter of interest there have been c orrelative 

decisions in the Court of Appeal in England which afford 

illustrations of the scale of operations upon which an 

owner may embark in realising his assets to the best advan­

tage. See, for example, The Hudson Bay Co. Ltd, v. Stevens 

(Surveyor of Taxes), (1909) 5 Tax cases 424; and Taylor v. 

Good (Inspector of Taxes),(1974) 1 All ER. 1137. I would 

add, however, that in the instant case the appellant’s busi­

ness operations in realising the Umhlanga Rocks and La Lucia 

properties, far transcended those of the taxpayers in those 

cases.

Cases in this Court, subsequent to Stott1s case, supra, 

recognise the relevance of a change of intention on the part 

of the owner, that is to say, a change from the original in­

tention when acquiring the asset; see C.X.R, v, Leydenberg 

Platinum Limited, 1929 A.D. 137 at p. 144 where Stratford, 

J.A., said at page 148, 

"For, even though it be assumed that these pro­
perties were originally acquired for the pur­
pose of carrying on the business of mining, 
the subsequent events to which I have referred

point 38/
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point to a clear change of policy in regard 
to the use to which they were put......................  
In the present case, a new factor did inter­
vene of a decisive character, namely the de­
liberate adoption of the policy of selling 
the company's properties to make profits.*

In this Court counsel on both sides closely analysed 

the facts in the foregoing case, each to illustrate his own 

submission. However, the principle just stated was recognised 

by this Court in C.I.R. v, Richmond Estates (Pty) Ltd., 1956 

(1) S.A. 602 (A.D.) at page 607, in which Centlivres, C.J., 

said -

“That the character of assets held by a company 
can be altered by a change of intention in re­
gard to those assets is clear from the case of 
Commissioner for Inland Revenue v. Leydenberg 
Estates Limited, 1929 A.D. 137 at 144, where 
the Court decided on p. 147 that there was a 
change of policy by the company concerned which 
resulted in capital assets becoming the stock- 
in-trade of the company." (The citation of the 
respondent should be Leydenberg Platinum Ltd,)

Schreiner, J.A., in his dissenting judgment, also re-

_cognisecL_the__ relevance .of_a_change_of-intention._The. .learned-

Judge of Appeal expressed himself thus, at page 610 D -

"The decisions........................................ 39/
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“The decisions of this Court have recognised 
the importance of the intention with which 
property was acquired and have taken account 
of the possibility that a change of inten­
tion or policy may also affect the result. 
But they have not laid down that a change of 
policy or intention by itself effects a 
change in the character of the assets.* 
(My italics).

That passage was approved by this Court in C.I.R. v.

Strathmore Consolidated Investments Ltd., 1959(1) S.A. 469

(A.D.) per Ogilvie Thompson, J.A., at page 478 B.

In Lace Proprietary Mines Ltd, v. C.I.R., 1938 A.D.

267, Stratford, C.J., in deciding whether the profit on the 

realisation of certain mineral rights was income, said at 

page 277, *For guidance we must go back to what has been 

said in Booysen's case and subsequent cases.* The learned 

Chief Justice went on to stress the importance of the in­

tention, but declined to peg it as at the date of acquisition.

The principle was again stated by Centlivres, C.J., in

Yates Investments (Pty) Ltd, v. C.I.R., 1956(1) S.A. 612 (A.D.)

at 616 40/



- 40 -

at 616 in fin*, namely, that it is clear from C.I.R, v. 

---- Leydenburg~PTatinhm/ 1929 A.D. 137 at page 148, and from

New Mines Ltd, v, C.I<R., 1938 A.D. 455 at 460/1, that a 

change of intention can take place, i.e., to change from 

a trader to an investor, and vice versa,

Lastly, in the recent case of S.I.R. v. The Trust 

Bank of Africa Ltd., 37 S.A. Tax Cases 87 (1975(3} S.A. 

652) Botha, J.A., at page 104 approved of certain remarks 

by Corbett, J. (as he was then) in the Court a quo, in de­

ciding the question of realization of a capital asset ver­

sus steps in a scheme of profit-making, in the circumstan­

ces of that case. Botha, J.A., said that what the learned 

Judge conveyed was that “the intention with which the shares 

were acquired was of the utmost importance, but not necessa­

rily decisive*. (My italics). 
I*

The tenor of all of the foregoing decisions was cri­

ticised by counsel for the appellant. He submitted that they

lost 41/
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lost sight of the principle that an owner was entitled to rea­

lise a capital asset to the best advantage without attracting 

tax. I do not think that the criticism is warranted, for that 

principle was expressly mentioned by Wessels, J.A., in Stott1s 

case, supra, at page 283, at the end of the main paragraph; and 

the decision has long been recognised as a leading case. Coun­

sel also contended that the test of degree was too uncertain 

to be realistic. As to that, courts have often indicated that, 

while a principle may be stated, its application is fraught 

with difficulty; see, as an example, the remarks of Innes, C.J., 

in the Booysens case, supra, at page 595 - "The rule is plain 

enough; the difficulty lies in the application of it." See, 

too, the correlative remarks of Wessels, J.A., in Stott1s case, 

supra, at page 264, in fin. Counsel also pointed to the inequity 

of taxing the appellant on profits based on the excess of to­

day’s prices over the value in 1921 (about R6 per acre). Coun­

sel on both sides were at one that, on the Act as it stands, 

there is no way of taxing the profits on the excess of today’s 

prices over the value as at the date when an owner decides 

and starts to go into the business of selling land
for profit.......42/



- 42 -

for profit, with his land as his stock-in-trade. Counsel re­

ferred to section 22. I express no view on the correctness 

or otherwise of counsels' approach. It might be conceivable 

that, if the owner proves the amount by which the land appre­

ciated in value while he held it as a capital asset, the ex­

clusion of that amount from the profits might be upheld under 

the Act as it stands, as being a capital accrual and not 

gross income, as defined. No opinion is expressed. However, 

if there is the inequity contended for, that is a matter 

which might well engage the attention of the Legislature.

One could continue to cite relevant decisions of this

Court with regard to the appellant's main contention, but I

think.................................................... 42A/
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think that it would be heaping Pelion upon Ossa. In my view 

the cases cited clearly demonstrate that the main contention 

on behalf of the appellant cannot be sustained. Indeed, to 

uphold it would be to flout the principle of stare decisis 

to the point of iconoclasm.

The second and alternative contention by counsel for 

the appellant was that any change of original intention on 

the part of the appellant, involving a decision to sell a 

portion of its land (i.e. in Umhlanga Rocks and La Lucia), 

did not transmute the character of that land from capital 

to stock-in-trade. In this connection counsel conceded that 

the appellant was engaged in business in ISnhlanga Rocks and

La Lucia 43/
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La Lucia, but only in the context of realizing capital assets 

"to-the“bestradvantage, the proceeds thereof being of a capi­

tal nature. The argument was that it is only when a taxpayer 

carries on the business of buying land for re-sale and then 

selling it (i.e. as a land-jobber) that the land can be re­

garded as stock-in-trade and the proceeds as income. That was 

not the position here, so the argument continued, because the 

appellant already owned the land before it changed its inten­

tion and decided to sell it. Thus it did not, and did not 

have to, buy in land for re-sale and then sell it. Therefore 

it was not a land-jobber, carrying on business with land as 

its stock-in-trade, it was merely realizing a capital asset. 

Thus the argument.

In ray view the fact that a taxpayer is doing land-job­

bing, (i.e. buying land for re-sale and then selling it at a 

profit) may establish (a) that he is not merely realizing a 

capital asset to the best advantage; and (b) that, on the

contrary 44/
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contrary, he is engaged in the business of selling land for 

profit, with land as his stock-in-trade. As was sai^ by Rus­

sell, in Taylor v. Good (1974) 1 All ER., 1137 (C.A.)

at page 1144, second paragraph -

"If of course you find a trade in the purchase 
and sale of land, it may not be difficult to 
find that properties originally owned (for 
example) by inheritance, or bought for invest­
ment only, have been brought into the stock- 
in-trade of that trade.".

It does not necessarily follow, however, that proof 

of land-jobbing (buying land for re-sale and selling it) is 

the only way of establishing that a taxpayer is engaged in 

the business of selling land for profit, using it as his 

stock-in-trade. Nor is the argument in my view well attended 

by logic, for it was conceded (correctly) that the character 

of land can change from stock-in-trade to capital in conse­

quence of a changed intention to hold it as an investment.

It was 45/
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It was also conceded (correctly} that the character of land 

can “change from that of capital to that of stock-in-trade by 

a change of policy whereby the land is merged with the stock- 

in-trade of an existing trading concern. I agree with coun­

sel for the respondent in his submission that it is not a de­

finitive characteristic of carrying out a scheme for profit­

making in land that there should be a buying in for the pur­

pose of a re-sale at a profit; that that feature may often be 

present but, on the other hand, the taxpayer may find it un­

necessary to buy in for purposes of re-sale; that he may have 

at hand such a stock-in-trade of hitherto capital assets that 

he does not need to buy in further stocky and that to say that 

there must always be buying in for purposes of re-sale at a 

profit is in effect to say that capital assets immutably re­

main capital assets in the hands of the acquirer.

As was said by Fairwell, L.J. in The Hudson Bay Co. Ltd., 

v- Stevens (Surveyor of Taxes), (1909) 5 Tax Cases, 424 at 

page 437 (first paragraph) -

"It is clear..................................... 46/
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“It is clear, therefore, that a man who sells 
his J.and^o^pictureszor jewels ,_is_ no_t_char^_ 
geable with income tax on the purchase-money 
or on the difference between the amount that 
he gave and the amount that he received for 
them. But if instead of dealing with his pro­
perty as owner he embarks on a trade in which 
he uses that property for the purposes of his 
trade, then he becomes liable to pay, not on 
the excess of sale prices over purchase pri­
ces, but on the annual profits or gains ari­
sing from such trade, in ascertaining which 
those prices will no doubt come into conside­
ration.*

I draw attention to the words “embarks on a trade in 

which he uses that property for the purposes of his trade...*

To sum up with regard to counsel’s alternative argument, 

it cannot be upheld.

The third contention by counsel for the appellant was 

that its business operations in regard to the sales of land 

in Umhlanga Rocks and La Lucia related only to the realiza­

tion of a capital asset to the best advantage; and that it 

-was -not-using—its-land as—stock-in-trade-in a- profit-making----  

business.

In deciding 47/
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In deciding whether a case is one of realising a capi­

tal asset or of carrying on a business or embarking upon a 

scheme of selling land for profit, one must think one's way 

through all of the particular facts of each case. Important 

considerations include, inter alia., the intention of the 

owner, both at the time of buying the land and when selling 

it (for his intention may have changed in the interim) ; the 

objects of the owner, if a company; the activities, of the 

owner in relation to his land up to the time of deciding to 

sell it in whole or in part; the light which such activities 

throw on the owner’s ipse dixit as to intention; where the 

owner subdivides the land, the planning, extent, duration, 

nature, degree, organisation and marketing operations of the 

enterprise; and the relationship of all this to the ordinary 

commercial concept of carrying on a business or embarking on 

a scheme for profit. Those considerations are not individual­

ly decisive and the list is not exhaustive. From the totality 

of the facts one enquires whether it can be said that the

owner......................................................... 48/
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owner had crossed the Rubicon and gone over to the business, 

“or^ embarked’upon a scheme, of selling such land for profit, 

using the land as his stock-in-trade.

Finally, one does not lose sight of the incidence of 

the onus of proving non-liability, imposed by section 82 of 

the Act, on the person claiming such non-liability, in this 

case the appellant.

The Special Court substantially followed the foregoing 

approach. I have already indicated that it was common eause 

that the Special Court, by the clearest implication, held 

that the appellant had changed its intention to hold its land 

as a capital investment and had decided to sell some of it. 

The judgment of Miller, J., proceeds to make the following 

findings. For convenience I have paragraphed and lettered the 

passages -

(a)----«Xt^is-s-.^r. VW. - - . 49/~ ~
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(a} *It is very clear that the appellant’s operations 
were on a vast scale. Preparatory to selling, in- 

_ tensive planning~and organization took place. It 
was conceded by the appellant’s witnesses and was 
publicised at the time that the intention was to 
create at La Lucia a luxury township and the ap­
pellant's expenditure to achieve that purpose was 
lavish. (See Exhibits 25 and 28-33). Every care 
was taken to ensure excellence of design and the 
provision of attractive amenities of high quality. 
The appellant itself at first constructed houses 
'to set the tone' for future builders....All
building plans were required by the conditions of 
title to be submitted to the appellant for appro­
val, because the appellant desired to maintain the 
high standards of design and construction which it 
had set. It appears to me that it must have been 
very obvious to any objective observer at that time 
that the appellant had entered the field of town­
ship development and the marketing of township 
land on a grand scale. The appellant had, to put 
it plainly, gone into business. I do not know of 
any more appropriate words to describe what it was 
doing. It is true that that was not its only busi­
ness. Nor was it its main business, which we ac­
cept was and remained that of producing and milling 
sugar cane. The township development and property 
marketing business might have been as profitable 
as its main business, but it was in truth ancil­
lary to it as one of the diversifications of the 
group's interests. We accept^that the appellant

 was concerned to maintain and expand its_ sugar- 
business and that the area of the ground which it

sold 50/
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sold in La Lucia and Umhlanga Rocks was almost
negligible in relation to the totality of its 
land holdings, but the business ^dïich it was
carrying on in dealing with such land was no 
less a profit-making scheme merely because it 
was subsidiary or secondary to the main busi- 
ness. ( c. f. African Life Investment Corporation 
Ltd.t vs. S.I.R., 1969(4} S.A. 259 (A.D.) at p. 
269). We cannot accept, therefore, that the ap­
pellant was doing no more than realizing its 
capital assets to best advantage.............................. M

(b) “The fact that the appellant may have been moti­
vated in the first instance to trade in its 
south-lying lands because it feared that sooner 
or later it would have to surrender them to the 
pressing urban needs of Durban, does not affect 
the issue. If it in fact sold the land in the 
course of carrying on a business or a profit­
making scheme, it does not matter what the cir­
cumstances were which prompted or inspired it to 
enter into that business.”

(c) “In this case, not only do the activities of the 
appellant lead to the conclusion that it was car­
rying on the business of selling land but the de­
liberations of its Board and the published pro­
nouncements of the parent company which received 
reports from the appellant and the sub-committees 
which it appointed for purposes of the scheme, for­
tify and underline that conclusion. In short, in

— _ so far .as. the_.La Lucia and Umhlanga_Rocks township— 
land is concerned, it is clear both from state­
ments of purpose and intent and from what was ac­
tually done by the appellant, that its intention

was
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was to employ that land for purposes of what it 
had.. Ipng^ant icipated would be _ ahighly_ profitable 
business."

These factual findings, particularly in the last sen­

tence in paragraph (a) and the last sentence in (c), are 

unequivocal. They are unappealable unless vitiated by misdi­

rection, irregularity or the absence of any evidence reaso­

nably warranting them. As to that -

(i) The findings do not seem to me to be impaired 
by the fact that a Latent residential poten­
tial already inhered in the coastal areas. 1 
say this because such potential needed a scheme 
in order to attract buyers. To that end, the 
appellant’s scheme was a profit-making business 
enterprise on a grand scale.

(ii) The findings are not vitiated by the definition 
of trading stock in section 1 of Act 58 of 1962. 
It is to be noted that it is not an exhaustive 
definition, for it commences with the word "in­
cludes". In so far as here relevant it reads -

"Trading stock
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"Trading stock includes anything...............
•purchased________by a taxpayer for pur- 

____   —---------- ---  poses - of.' •... sale “ or " exchange" by “him 
orchis behalf................ *

Up to that point, it may be that the asset has 
to be purchased with the intention of selling 
it. But the definition continues -

"or (anything) the proceeds from the dis­
posal of which forms or will form part 
of his gross income."

I have repeated the word "anything* for clarity. 
See the concluding words of the Afrikaans defi­
nition of “handelsvoorraad* namely -

".............of enigiets waarvan die opbrings 
uit die van die hand sit daarvan deel 
van sy .bruto inkomste uitmaak of sal 
uitmaak."

This portion of the definition is not inconsis­
tent with the situation in the present case.

(iiij The findings are not vitiated by the absence of 
any evidence reasonably warranting them. As to 
that, X accept the following submission by coun­
sel for the respondent -

"To a degree not paralleled in any report­
ed case, the arvidence in the present case 
established a scheme of profit-making. If 
it were to be held that the appellant was 
merely realising a capital asset to best 
advantage, then it would be difficult to 
envisage that there could ever be a case 
in which *it could be held that a taxpayer 
Had-changed-its ~intention and gone into 
the business of profit-making in land. One 
would have arrived de facto at a situation 
in which land acquired as a capital asset 
immutably retained that character in the 
hands of the acquirer."

To sum up.....................................................53/
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To sum up with regard to the profits from sales of 

land_at_ Umhlanga. Rocks, and La^hucia^ (X shall- deal-in a mo-------- 

ment with the question of certain bulk sales in these areas), 

on all the facts the Special Court was entitled to find that 

the appellant, with its elaborate and sustained scheme and 

expertise, was doing much more than merely realizing a capi­

tal asset; to the best advantage in a businesslike manner; and 

that by any canons of commerce it had gone beyond that field: 

it had crossed the Rubicon and committed itself on a grand 

scale to the course and business of selling land for profit, 

using the land as its stock-in-trade. On those factual find­

ings the Special Court's conclusion, that the profits were 

receipts or accruals of income and taxable, is correct in law.

The fourth contention on appeal was that certain sales 

of land in bulk in the foregoing coastal areas should have 

been regarded as realisations of capital assets, and that the 

proceeds were ribt~income~As to that, ~the judgment of Miller~ 

J., said this -

*Xt is true............................................. 54/
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“It is true................ that the appellant itself later 
discontinued the actual planning and development 

" of 'the township and extensions, and the direct
sale of lots therein and sold, instead, land in 
bulk within the townships to the group companies 
............But the sale of its land to such companies 
was to enable them, instead of itself, to develop 
the township and construct houses and was clearly 
done in pursuance of the business or scheme it 
had evolved for profitable dealing in land; only 
the details and machinery for the fulfilment of 
the object were varied.*

And see the latter portion of paragraph (xiii) of the ta­

bulation of the facts, supra.

It was contended on behalf of the appellant that, what­

ever the position might be in regard to the many retail sales 

of land in Umhlanga Rocks and La Lucia, the sales of land in 

bulk in those areas represented capital realization. These 

sales were to associated companies, namely, La Lucia Homes 

(PtyJ Ltd., which is a subsidiary of appellant; and to three 

other companies in which the appellant’s parent company held 

a_45%^interest^-These—three—companies—were-La Lucia Property— 

Investments (Pty) Ltd., Umhlanga Rocks (Pty) Ltd., and La 

Lucia Shopping Centre (Pty) Ltd.

The contention......................................55/
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The contention was that the bulk sales of these areas 

were unaffected by the Special Court's reasons for holding 

that the retail sales were in the course of a business car­

ried on for selling land at a profit. Those reasons, it will 

be recalled, included the preparatory intensive planning and 

organisation, the intention to create a luxury township, the 

lavish expenditure in achieving that purpose, the construc­

tion of certain houses "to set the tone* and, in general, 

the fact that the appellant had entered the profit-making 

business of township development and marketing of township 

land on a grand scale.

The argument in this Court was that it would be logi­

cal to exclude the bulk sales from the business referred to, 

since none of the foregoing considerations applied to them.

I am unable to accept this contention. It is true that, 

in regard to the bulk sales, there was not the same degree 

of close urban settlement; and only one or two houses had 

been erected thereon "to set the tone". Nevertheless, some 

quite appreciable sums of money had been spent to develop them,

covering 56/
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covering such matters as survey, general planning, bush 

clearance, roads and sewerage. And the bulk areas all bene­

fited and were intended to benefit from the intensive busi­

ness activities referred to above. Indeed, on the facts, they 

were all part of the same concept. As there was a change of 

original intention in regard to land in Umhlanga Rocks and

La Lucia, that change also embraced the areas therein subse­

quently sold in bulk. It would be wrong to dissociate them 

from the profit-making business on the grounds of larger area 

or a lesser degree of development. Furthermore, a good deal 

of development was common to both retail and bulk sales, such 

as access roads, to mention only one indispensable amenity.

To sum up.......... .. ................................56A/
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—To- sum-up-on-this-issue once-it"is recognised" that, on the

facts, the land in Umhlanga Rocks and la Lucia became stock­

in-trade, it does not matter whether the sales therein were 

in retail or in bulk. In either event the proceeds are re­

ferable to gross income. The Special Court found as a fact 

that the bulk sales were clearly in pursuance of the busi 

ness or scheme which the appellant had evolved for profi 

table dealing in land. Standing that factual finding, the

Special Court’s conclusion, that the proceeds of the bulk 

sales were referable to gross income, is correct in law.

In the result, the appeal on this issue cannot succeed.

--------,------OTTAWA-TOWNSHIP^. tt. íT.T. . tt.~57A
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OTTAWA TOWNSHIP

The fifth contention in the appeal. We have now dealt 

with the appeal in relation to sales of land in Umhlanga 

Rocks and La Lucia (save in respect of one special sale in 

the former area which was held to be a capital realization 

and which will be dealt with under the cross-appeal). The 

fifth and final contention in the appeal relates to the sale 

of fourteen lots in the Ottawa Township, also referred to in 

the record as Ottawa Estates. These are not in Umhlanga Rocks 

or La Lucia. Three of these lots were sold in 1969 and eleven 

in 1970. See the SYNOPSIS (supra), Item (3) (1969) and Item 

(3) (1970). The appellant was assessed to income tax in re­

spect of the proceeds of these sales. The Special Court held 

that there was not sufficient material before it to enable it 

to draw a firm conclusion; and that therefore the appellant 

had not discharged the onus of showing that the Secretary was 

wrong in treating the receipt as revenue.

In this Court......................................58/



- 58 -

In this Court, counsel on both sides diligently wink­

led from the thousand-page record the paucity of facts that 

could be pieced together on this issue. It appears that the 

Ottawa Estate was purchased in 1927 for a purpose ancillary 

to the appellant's sugar business. The small area in question 

in the appeal was not under cane and was not suitable for 

such cultivation. The area sold represented pieces of land 

which, the. .appellant had - caused to be re-subdivided into lots 

for sale to members of the Indian community, a number of the 

purchasers being employees of the appellant. In 1967 the ap­

pellant applied for a certificate of need and desirability 

for the establishment of a small township. At the time of 

sale the area was a proclaimed township and was zoned for 

Indian ownership and occupation. It was a very small area of 

land. Township development costs, totalling several thousand 

rand, had been incurred in respect of matterssuchas roads,, 

bush clearance and drainage. A substantial profit was made on 

the sales.

On this........................  59/
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On this meagre patchwork of information the case ap­

pears to be a borderline one, as between realizing a capi­

tal asset and embarking on a profit-making scheme. In the 

unusual circumstances I am unpersuaded that the Special 

Court erred in considering that the case fell to be deci­

ded on the footing that the appellant had not discharged 

th® onus, imposed by section 82 of the Act, of establishing 

that the Secretary was wrong in regarding- the profits as 

accruals of income. The appeal on this issue cannot, there­

fore, be sustained.

To sum up with regard to the entire appeal, it is dis­

missed with costs. Two counsel appeared on behalf of the re­

spondent, and the order for costs will include those occasio­

ned by their employment.

I turn now to -

THE CROSS-APPEAL...............................60/
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THE CROSS-APPEAL 

-----------------------------ADUFFTCm-L -AS SE S SMENT^ 0F~ R5~48~ OIXTFOR" THE ~ YEAR 1965 

As mentioned early in the judgment, for the year ended 

30 April 1965 certain profits on disposals of land were not 

treated as income in the original assessment issuee} in Fe­

bruary 1967; but they were included in an additional assess­

ment of R548 010 issued by the respondent during April 1972. 

On 20 April 1972 the appellant lodged a formal objection, in 

terms of section 81 of the Act (No. 58 of 1962}, on the ground 

that the nett proceeds of the relevant sales constituted re­

ceipts and accruals of a capital nature; and further, that 

the respondent was precluded by the terms of section 79(1}(a) 

of the Act from re-opening the original assessment after the 

expiration of three years. A further ground of objection is 

not here relevant. On 24 April 1972 the respondent disallowed 

the objection, by a notice to the appellant in terms of sec­

tion 81(4}. On 18 May 1972 the appellant lodged a

notice 61/
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notice of appeal under section 83. The grounds of appeal 

were-the same alT'those ~in~the disallowed objection. The 

Court a quo upheld the appellant*s ground that the respon­

dent was precluded by the terms of section 79(1)(a) from 

re-opening the original assessment. The respondent has 

cross-appealed against this decision.

Section 79(1} of the Act reads as follows -

"If at any time the Secretary is satisfied that 
any amounts which should have been subject to 
tax have not been assessed to tax either under 
this Act or any previous Income Tax Act, he 
shall raise assessments in respect of such 
amounts, notwithstanding that assessments may 
have been made upon the person concerned in 
respect of the year or years of assessment in 
respect of which the amounts in question are 
assessable, and notwithstanding the provisions 
of sub-section (5) of section eighty-one and 
sub-section (18) of section eighty-three or 
the corresponding provisions of such previous 
Income Tax Act : Provided that the Secretary 
shall not raise an assessment under this sub­
section -

(a)after.. . ...— : 62/
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(a) after the expiration of three years 
------- ------- ------------ from- the -date of'assessment” in-terms 

of which any amount which should have 
been assessed to tax under such assess­
ment was not so assessed, unless the 
Secretary is satisfied that the amount 
was not so assessed because of fraud 
or misrepresentation or non-disclosure 
of material facts;” (My italics}.

The argument in this Court by counsel for the respon­

dent was that the use of words such as those italicised, 

supra., ordinarily indicates an administrative discretion, and 

excludes a right of appeal in the absence of contrary indica­

tions. He relied on Irvin & Johnson (S.A.) Ltd, v. C.I.R., 

1946 A.D. 483 at pages 492/3; and Holden's Estate v. C.I.R., 

1960(3) S.A. 497 (A.D.) at page 502 E - F. Counsel contended 

that there were no "contrary indications* in sections 79 and 

83 or any other section of Act 58 of 1962; and therefore the 

respondent's ? satis faction", was unappealable.

1 shall 63/
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I shall assume, without deciding, in favour of the re­

spondent, that, once he is satisfied that an amount was not 

previously assessed because of fraud or misrepresentation or 

non-disclosure of material facts, his decision is unappeala­

ble. However, there must be some evidence before the Special 

Court that he was so satisfied, otherwise there is no dis­

placement of the immunity conferred on the taxpayer by the 

proviso to section 79(1} and the opening words of paragraph 

(a) thereof. A convenient time and place for indicating the 

Secretarial satisfaction would be in the additional assess­

ment itself, or in a covering letter; or in the notice which 

the respondent is required by section 81(4) to send to the 

taxpayer, if the latter’s objection to the assessment is dis­

allowed. And it should state the particular conduct of the 

taxpayer to which it relates, i.e., whether fraud or misre­

presentation or non-disclosure of material facts.

It is 64/
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It is common cause that in the present case (which 

lasted for four days before the Special Court) there was 

neither testimony nor any document stating that the Secre­

tary satisfied himself as to the requirements of section 

79(1)(a). All that happened in this regard in the Special 

Court was that, during the argument stage after the cases 

had been closed, the representative of the respondent (who 

was not the counsel in this Court) made the submission that 

the Secretary was satisfied that there had been a material 

non-disclosure. With all respect, that is not the way to 

establish it.

Counsel for the respondent in this Court recognised 

all the foregoing, but he contended that (a) the correspon­

dence between the parties prior to the issue of the additio­

nal assessment, and (b) the maxim omnia praesumuntur rite 

esse acta,gave rise to the inference that the Secretary had 

indeed applied his mind to the requirements of section 79(1) 

(a) and had satisfied himself thereanent.

I am.................................................................. 65/
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I am unpersuaded that the correspondence has the effect 

contended-for ~With'_ regard to-the maxim relied upon, in 

fyers v. Chinn & Another, 1928 A.D. 322 at page 332, Strat­

ford, J.Agiving the judgment of the Court, had this to 

say about it -

"In Wigmore on Evidence (vol. 4, para­
graph 2534), the author says: ’The 
general experience that a rule of of­
ficial duty, or a requirement of legal 
conditions, is fulfilled by those upon 
whom it is incumbent, has given rise 
occasionally to a presumption of due 
performance. This presumption is more 
often mentioned than enforced; and its 
scope as a real presumption is indefi­
nite and hardly capable of reduction 
to rules. It may be said that most of 
the instances of its application are 
found attended by several conditions; 
first, that the matter is more or less 
in the past, and incapable of easily 
procured evidence; secondly, that it 
involves a mere formality, or detail 
of required procedure, in the routine 
of a litigation or of a public officer's 
action; next, that it involves to some 
 extent the security of apparently vested 

rights, so that the presumption will 
serve to prevent an unwholesome uncer­
tainty; and, finally, that the circum­
stances of the particular case add some 
element of probability.' *

In the present............................. 66/
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In the present case none of these conditions can be 

said to apply. Nor, in particular, is this a case of a mere­

ly formal decision : on the contrary, the Secretary's "satis­

faction" is a substantive and far-reaching determination, 

which should be communicated to the taxpayer, if not before, 

then at the very latest at, the hearing in the Special Court. 

In these circumstances I do not consider that the maxim res­

cues the Secretary in this case.

Once it is recognised that there should be some evidence 

of the Secretary's satisfaction, the taxpayer should be in­

formed of it plainly, and of the particular conduct in respect 

of which he is satisfied, e.g., fraud, or material non-disclo­

sure. The taxpayer should not have to grope inferentially for 

the Secretarial satisfaction, or the particular form of dere­

liction of duty to which it relates. In particular he should 

not be left to infer from the mere receipt of an additional 

assessment, after the expiration of three years from the 

........................................................... 67/date
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date of the original assessment, that the Secretary, after 

applying -his- mind—to“the mattery' * is sat is fiecT that-the” tax- 

payer’s fraud or misrepresentation or material non-disclosure 

caused a non-assessment. For one thing (and it was common 

cause in this appeal that the material non-disclosure could 

be innocent}1 the taxpayer is entitled to know whether frau­

dulent conduct - a grave and ugly imputation - is being held 

against him.

Lastly, counsel for the respondent sought refuge in 

the terms of section 82 of the Act, which inter alia casts 

upon the taxpayer the burden of proving non-liability. As 

to that, because three years had expired since the original 

assessment, the taxpayer enjoyed statutory immunity from 

further assessment. If the Secretary wished to displace that 

immunity, it was for him to state that he was “satisfied" 

that the non-assessment in question was caused by the tax­

payer's fraud or misrepresentation or non-disclosure of ma­

terial facts. This is because the proviso to section 79(1)

of..............................................................68/
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of the Act, read with paragraph (aJ thereof, prohibits the 

Secretary from raising an additional assessment, after the 

lapse of three years, unless he is so satisfied. In the pre­

sent case there is no evidence of such "satisfaction" on his 

part, and the taxpayer’s immunity stands. The appellant has 

therefore shown that the Secretary's decision to assess him 

further was wrong. Thus the appellant has fulfilled the con­

dition at the end of section 82, namely, "unless it is shown 

by the appellant that the decision is wrong*.

In the result, the cross-appeal on this issue cannot 

succeed.

I proceed now to deal with sales in several areas of 

land, inland from Umhlanga Rocks and La Lucia, which were 

adjudged to be capital realizations. The Secretary cross­

appeals against those decisions. The areas in question are 

listed in the SYNOPSIS, supra. For the tax year 1969 they 

are listed therein as item (7}, Effingham Estate; and item 

(8}, Kwa Mashu Extension. For the tax year 1970, they are

listed 69/
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listed in the SYNOPSIS as item (7), Newlands; item (8)

“Umhlanga ROcks'Cthisi^^ one special sale in that area 

previously mentioned which was held to be a capital reali­

zation); item (9), Phoenix - Mt. Edgecombe; and item (10), 

Mt. Edgecombe. I shall deal with them in their order.

EFFINGHAM ESTATE

Item (7) in the SYNOPSIS, supra, in relation to the 

1969 tax year; and see paragraph (xiv) of the tabulation 

of the facts, supra.

The contention on behalf of the Secretary in the °

cross-appeal was -

(a) that the intention with which the appellant 
held Effingham Estates must be viewed in the 
light of its overall intention and conduct 
in regard to its land which had a township 
potential;

(b) that the appellant all along had in contem­
plation that it would utilise Effingham Es­
tates for township development in a scheme 
for profit-making_wh.e n_ the _t ime_should—prove— 
opportune;

(c) that.............................................70/
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(c) that the appellant took active steps in that 
direction in pursuance_ o_f the__policy_laid_ 
down by Huletts of turning the appellant's 
land to account.

In my view the starting point is the fact that the 

appellant's original intention in acquiring this land as 

a cane farm in 1923 (as part of a larger area) was to use 

it as a capital investment, in its main object and business 

of engaging in the sugar industry. This was so found by the 

Special Court. The notion of a dual purpose, which seems to 

be inherent in the contentions just set out, has already been 

considered at length and rejected, supra. So the question is 

whether the original intention was changed to one of using 

this particular land as stock-in-trade in the business of 

selling land for profit.

Miller, J., giving the judgment of the Special Court, 

was careful to point out that the finding that the appellant 

carried-on-sueh-a—bus iness-in-seHin g~its coastal-land - in

Umhlanga Rocks 
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Umhlanga Rocks and Ija Lucia, could not, in the circumstan­

ces _ o_f _ thiscase,, automat lea bly -be—ex t ended to ~ every ~saie 

of the appellant’s land elsewhere. The reason, said the 

learned Judge, was that the coastal land was land of dis­

tinctive quality for the purposes for which it was sold, 

and represented a very small percentage of its total hol­

dings of land; and that it was readily conceivable that 

some of the appellant’s other land might be sold as a 

true realization of capital for purposes of change of in­

vestment, and not at all in the course of a business or 

profit-making scheme. It would be fallacious, continued 

the learned Judge, to assume that no portion of its consi­

derable landed estate could be excluded from the scope of 

its property business. In the result, concluded the learned 

Judge, each and every sale of land beyond the coastal areas 

of Umhlanga Rocks and La Lucia must be considered on its 

ownmerits-and~should^hotbe_regarded as necessarily and

inevitably...........................................72/
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inevitably falling to be dealt with, for tax purposes, as 

part of the land-dealing business.

I agree with the foregoing approach.

The area in question, 282 acres, was sold to Effingham 

Heights Development Co. (Pty) Ltd., an Indian-owned company. 

The land had long been sought after by members of the Indian 

community for the purposes of establishing an Indian town­

ship. The judgment of the Special Court continues -

*The land was zoned for Indian occupation and 
we accept that the appellant recognised the 
probability, if not the inevitability, of a 
notice to vacate the land in terms of the 
Group Areas legislation. Although the appel- 
land applied for a certificate of need and 
desirability in respect of this land, it did 
not develop it, nor cause it to be developed. 
It incurred expenditure in the total sum of 
some R34 000, mostly in respect of survey 
and administrative expenses. The circumstan­
ces which form the background of the sale of 
this piece of land to an Indian-owned company 
set it apart from the business which it was 
carrying on in respect of its coastal land.

------------------------It—is—significant -that -this -land was-not—sold— 
to Effingham Hills (Pty) Ltd., which had al­
ready been formed within the Huletts group

in 1967 73/
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in 1967 for the purpose of property develop­
ment at Effingham. We have come to the con- 

‘ ------— clusi on -that- the ~ profit of~R3S9 086 on the ~
sale of this particular portion of Effing­
ham Estate, which was acquired by the appel­
lant during 1923 as a cane farm, ought not 
to have been regarded by the Secretary as 
revenue but as an accrual of a capital na— 
ture."

The clear implication is that the Special Court found 

as a fact that the appellant had at no time changed its ori­

ginal intention of holding and using this land as a capital 

investment. That finding is unassailable. Hence the Special 

Court’s conclusion (in the last sentence, supra) that the 

profit was a capital accrual and not income is correct in law. 

Indeed, it seems clear that the appellant was here adjusting 

and attuning its land holdings to changing circumstances; and

in this 73A/
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in this context it was doing no more than realizing a 

capital asset. To hold otherwise, in the circumstances 

of the present case, would be to condemn the appellant 

to static holdings upon pain of taxation. The Act does 

not require this. In the result, the cross-appeal on this 

issue cannot succeed.

KWA MASHU EXTENSION

Item (8) of the SYNOPSIS, supra, in relation" to 

the 1969 tax year.

This area of 793 acres was sold to the Durban Cor­

poration after receipt of a notice of expropriation. It adjoins

an area..........................................................74/



- 74 -

an area of 2262 acres of Melkhoute Kraal which the Corpor-

-ationhad-acquired"“from “the" appellant for Kwa Mashu Bantu

Township in 1957. All of this land was part of the appel­

lant's primary purchase in 1921.

The argument in this Court on behalf of the respondent 

in the cross-appeal was to the following effect -

Viewed in the context of the appellants po­
licy in connection with that part of its land 
which had township potential, and in the con­
text of the general policy of Hulett’s re­
garding the appellant’s land, there can be no 
doubt but that the appellant disposed of this 
Kwa Mashu Extension in pursuance of a policy 
of realizing its land for profit-making.

The difficulty about this contention is that the Spe­

cial Court has made certain findings of fact. Miller, J., 

said -

"As I understand the argument on behalf of the 
Secretary in support of the assessment in re­
spect of this transaction, it was that when 
the Consortium took over the appellant compa­
ny in 1962, it knew that this land was to_be

expropriated
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expropriated and it therefore contemplated 
—___selling- it- to—theCorporationIt~waa—not- - 

the consortium but the appellant which sold 
the land to the Corporation. The notice of 
expropriation was served in January 1962 
and although the appellant might have sus­
pected some years before (possibly in 1957 
when the 2262 acres were taken) that further 
land might be taken for KWA MASHU, it cer­
tainly had no knowledge or suspicion there­
of in 1921. It appears to us that there is 
no justification for regarding the proceeds 
of this transaction as anything other than 
capital accruals. Of course, the appellant 
endeavoured, as it was entitled to do, to 
obtain the maximum price for the land, but 
this is not sufficient to bring it within 
the sphere of its operations in La Lucia. 
In concept, purpose and design, and in every 
other material respect, the sale of this 
piece of land to the Durban Corporation dif­
fers fundamentally from the transactions by 
which the coastal land was disposed of. The 
appellant’s objection to the inclusion of 
the profits on this transaction (R275 638) 
in its taxable income was well-founded.*

In my view the contention on behalf of the respondent 

in the cross-appeal is insufficient to subvert the fore­

going "rearsohihg~ahd “f'ihdihg^of the Special Court.

I would add........................................76/
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I would add that counsel for the respondent prepared 

a careful collation of circumstances_and-activities—over------  

the years which, he contended, revealed an overall pattern 

of the appellant’s gradual use of its land as stock-in-trade. 

The Special Court was aware of this general contention, and 

considered and rejected it. In this regard I do not think 

that I need burden the wearily tenacious reader by quoting 

at length from the judgment of that Court. The tenor of its 

finding was that the appellant early realised that some of 

its cane land would be lost to it through the thrust and 

demands of turgid urban expansion; and that sooner or later 

there would have to be a change of capital investment in 

respect of them; but that (save in the case of TJmhlanga 

Rocks and La Lucia} this was capital realization which fell 

far short of going over to the profit-making business of 

using such land as stock-in-trade.

In~the^resuit, thëcr oss-appea 1 against the decision 

in regard to Kwa Mashu Extension cannot succeed.

NEWLANDS..................................................77/
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NEWLANDS

--------Item— (74 of' theSYNDPSIS, -supra,—jn-r elation -toother 

1970 tax year. This land, about 19 acres in extent, was sold 

to one Mahomed for R19 076 on 21 October 1969. Of this sum, 

R16 892 represented profit. The land had been acquired by 

the appellant in 1922. The Special Court's finding was as 

follows -

“After the establishment of Kwa Mashu township 
and the construction of the road connecting 
with Durban, this piece of land became isola­
ted and was of minor benefit to the appellant. 
It was clearly a case of realization of a ca­
pital asset which had become redundant."

In this Court, counsel for the respondent in the cross-appeal 

conceded, rightly, that the land had become surplus to the 

appellant's requirements as agricultural land. However,coun­

sel went on to contend that this was not a case of capital 

realization because -

(i) the price obtained indicates its 
township potential;

(ii) it is............... ..............................78/
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(ii) it is situated close to the resi­
dential areas of Newlands;

(ïii'J thëTappellant had by 1969 adopted 
a policy of turning to account its 
land in proximity to residential 
areas under a profit-making scheme.

Counsel submitted, further, that the Special Court had had 

regard to the immediate reason for the realization of this 

property, rather than the general policy in pursuance of 

which the sale was concluded. For these reasons, counsel 

for the respondent submitted that there was no factual 

basis on which the Special Court ould have concluded that 

this was a case of realization of a capital asset which 

had become redundant.

The enquiry turned basically on the reason for the 

realization of the property. That is a question of fact. 

It is not for this Court to decide that matter afresh. 

Standing the Special Court’s factual finding, its conclusion 

_that_ this_was_a—capital—realizat ion—is—correct-in -law. -The— 

appeal on this issue cannot succeed.

SPECIAL SALE AT UMH1ANGA RO«KS...................79
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special sale at umhlanga rocks

----------Item" CO” of the* SYNOPSIS, supra, in relation to the 

1970 tax year.

As a general rule, once there is a business of sel­

ling land for prof it-making in a particular area, one would

ordinarily expect the proceeds of every sale in that area 

to be part of the gross income. This case, however, was 

exceptional. The Special Court made the following finding 

in respect of it -

"(This piece}1 of land is situated in the TM- 
hlanga Rocks Drive area, close to the large 
tract of land previously sold to the S.A. 
Sugar Association as an experimental farm 
(the profits in respect of which were not 
regarded by the Secretary as taxable in­
come].......... it was acquired by the Natal 
Provincial Administration, after notice of 
expropriation, for purposes of the Natal 
Anti-Shark Measures Board. No development 
was undertaken in respect of this small 
area which is not far removed from the re­
fuse removal sites of the Glenashley and

_______________ Umhlanga-local -authorities. “The 'prbbabili^- 
ties are that this piece of land, isolated

from...................................................80/
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from, although in fairly close proximity 
to, the Umhlanga Rocks extensions, was 
disposed of as a casual realization of a 
small piece of redundant land required , _  
by the Province and the proceeds are of 
a capital nature rather than revenue 
nature.•

In this Court it was urged an behalf of the respondent 

that the price of R24 360 for just under three acres does not 

suggest redundancy. I think that this submission wrongly tends 

to equate redundancy and worthlessness. The main argument was 

that the nature of this accrual must not be viewed in isola^ 

tion, but in the context of all of the evidence relating to 

the appellant's dealings with its seaward properties. Where­

fore, so the argument concluded, there was no factual basis on 

which the Special Court could conclude that the proceeds of 

this sale were of a capital nature, in my view the respondent 

does not survive the factual hurdle. The Special Court made 

a positive finding of fact as to the reason for the realiza­

tion of this small property and, putting it at its lowest, 

there is some evidence upon which to found it. Standing that 

finding, the Special Court's conclusion that the proceeds were 

of a capital nature was correct in law. Consequently the cross- 

appeal on this issue cannot succeed.

ppoetjtx Ait RnaEnoMRE_____________________ri /
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PHOENIX/MT.. EDGECOMBE

Item (9) of the SYNOPSIS, supra, in relation to the 

1970 tax year.

This item relates t« the sale of 885 acres of land, 

near Mt. Edgecombe, to the Department of Community Develop­

ment for purposes of Indian housing. This land formed part 

of Melkhoute Kraal and was part of the appellant's primary 

acquisition in 1921. Notice of intention to expropriate it 

was given to the appellant in June 1968; and several expro­

priation interdicts had been issued in respect of land in 

that area, commencing in 1957. In February 1967 the appel­

lant had made application for a certificate of need and de­

sirability for the establishment and development of an indus­

trial township of approximately 1600 acres on this land. The 

price paid by the Department of Community Development in 

March 1970 was RI 075 275. The appellant was assessed to tax 

on the nett proceeds of RI 059 183.

The Special Court............... .. .............82/
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The Special Court distinguished this transaction from

the sales in La Lucia. Miller, J. , observed -

"As I have pointed out, the profits made in 
respect of sales in the La Lucia area are 
revenue accruals only because the appellant 
received the proceeds from the actual car­
rying out of its profit-making scheme; those 
profits were the fruits of trading in its 
land.*

On the other hand, in the transaction here relevant -

•It had not yet gone over to trading in the 
land at Phoenix - Mt.Edgecombe when the De­
partment of Community Development required 
it, and the proceeds of the sale were not 
the fruits of trading but the realization 
of land it had acquired and held as capital.*

In this Court, counsel for the Secretary advanced the 

following contention -

•it is submitted that by 1962 Appellant was 
holding the whole of the area of its land 
along the railway line between the Dmgeni 
and Mt. Edgecombe as potential township 
land which it intended to sell in a scheme 
of pro fit-making. After the take-over by

■ ■ — - Huletts in 1962 fresh Impetus was given to
the intention of developing townships on 
the land. By the time that the Kwa Mashu

extension 83/
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extension and Phoenix/Mt, Edgecombe areas
.. were taken over. Appellant had begun to

take active steps in the implementation of 
township development. Viewed in the context 
of Appellant1s policy in connection with 
that part of its land which had township 
potential and in the context of the general 
policy of Huletts regarding Appellant's 
land, there can be no doubt but that Appel­
lant had disposed of the Kwa Mashu Extension 
and Phoenix/tat. Edgecombe areas in pursuance 
of a policy of realizing its land for profit­
making.*

It will be seen that this contention, which was also 

before the Special Court, is much the same as that discussed 

in regard to the sale of the land for the Kwa Mashu Extension, 

supra. The Trial Court faced this issue squarely. It conclu­

ded that the appellant's policy was that, where it appeared 

to be inevitable that land in the vicinity of the mill would 

be taken for purposes of establishments in accordance with 

Group Areas zoning, it preferred, if it were possible, it­

self to regulate the development with an eýe to the protec­

tion of its interests in relation to the mill and its environs.

*But*.............*....................  .84/
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"But", said Miller, J., in the judgment of the Special Court, 

"the requirements of the Department anticipated the appel­

lant's schemes for development, and the land was disposed 

of to the Department, under circumstances very nearly equi­

valent to compulsion, before the appellant could put into 

effect its plans for the future."

The foregoing, particularly the last sentence thereof, 

appears to me to be a fair view of the situation. I am there­

fore unpersuaded that the Special Court was wrong in holding 

that, at the stage when this inevitable transaction took 

place, the appellant had not yet gone over to a trading in 

land at Phoenix - Mt. Edgecombe; and that this was a case of 

the realization of a capital asset. The cross-appeal on this 

issue must therefore fail.

MOUNT EDGECOMBE

_ Item (10) of the SYNOPSIS, supra, in relation to the 

1970 tax year.

This piece 85/
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This piece of agricultural land was less than a third 

of an acre in extent. It was acquired by the appellant in 

1921 at a cost of R2. Nearly half a century later it was 

sold to the South African Railways for R89O following a 

notice of intention to acquire it by expropriation, given 

to the appellant in June 1968. The appellant was assessed 

to tax on R888. The Special Court pointed out that this 

land was part of the appellant’s primary (1921} estate; 

and held that there did not appear to be any reason for 

regarding the transaction otherwise than as a realization 

of capital.

The only contention in the cross—appeal was that there 

was no evidence upon which the Special Court could have come 

to this conclusion, having regard to the onus of proof im­

posed on the taxpayer by section 82.

In my view 86/
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In my view this contention is met by what has been 

said in this judgment under the heading of NEWIANDS, in 

the concluding paragraph thereof. Furthermore, what was 

said earlier in this judgment (under the heading of

EFFINGHAM ESTATE, in fin. ,) about the adjustment by the 

appellant to changing circumstances, applies here as well.

What else can you do but sell, when you receive a notice 

of intention to expropriate; and there was no suggestion 

at all that the appellant was regarding this piece of land 

as stock-in-trade, or was here engaged in a business or a 

scheme of pro fit-making. In the result, the cross-appeal in 

regard-to this issue cannot succeed.—

To sum up............... ...............................87/
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To sum up with regard to the entire cross-appeal, it 

is dismissed with costs. Three counsel appeared on behalf 

of the appellant (i.e., the respondent in the cross-appeal) 

and an order was sought for costs on this footing. This was 

opposed by the Secretary. I bear in mind the magnitude of 

the amount in dispute, the amplitudinous record, the com­

plexity of the issues, and the correlation between the 

appeal and the cross-appeal. Xn these circumstances I con­

sider it appropriate to allow costs against the unsuccess­

ful cross-appellant on the footing of the employment of 

three counsel. I would add that a similar order would have 

been made if three counsel had appeared on behalf of the 

respondent in the unsuccessful appeal; but in fact only two 

counsel so appeared.

Xn the result........................................ 88/
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IN THE RESULT

1. The appeal is dismissed with costs, including 

those occasioned by the employment of two 

counsel.

2. The cross-appeal is dismissed with costs, in­

cluding those occasioned by the employment of 

three counsel.

Judge of Appeal

Trollip, j.A. )
Muller, J.A. )
Corbett, J.A. } CONCUR

GaIgut, A.J.A. ]


